United Nations AcNo/sr.901

2R\ General Assembly Distr.. General
7 July 2010
%ywéy oy

Original: English

United Nations Commission on International Trade Law
Forty-third session

Summary record of the 901st meeting*
Held at Headquarters, New York, on Monday, 21 June 2010, at 10.30 a.m.

Temporary Chairperson: Mr. Sorieul (Secretary of the Commission)
Chairperson: Mr. Schneider (Chairperson of the Committee of the Whole) .. ... ... (Switzerland)

Contents
Opening of the session
Election of officers
Adoption of the agenda

Finalization and adoption of a revised version of the UNCITRAL Arbitration Rules

* No summary record was prepared for the 900th meeting.

This record is subject to correction.

Corrections should be submitted in one of the working languages. They should be set forth in a
memorandum and also incorporated in a copy of the record. They should be sent within one
week of the date of this document to the Chief, Official Records Editing Section, room DC2-750,
2 United Nations Plaza.

Any corrections to the record of the meetings of this session will be consolidated in a single
corrigendum, to be issued shortly after the end of the session.

H0ud L8 iEﬁ Please rec cle@
0T BT R0 '



A/CN.9/SR.901

The meeting was called to order at 11.15 a.m.

Opening of the session

1.  Ms. O’Brien (Under-Secretary-General for Legal
Affairs, The Legal Counsel) said that much of the work
of the United Nations system rarely made headlines;
yet that quiet work was an integral part of its
objectives to promote higher standards of living, social
progress and economic development. The Charter of
the United Nations offered a framework of values that
contributed to the emergence of a fair and inclusive
global economy, and the Organization established
global norms and standards to further develop those
values. That standard-setting work had become ever
more important in an era of globalization. For more
than 40 years, the Commission’s work had contributed
to forming the basis for the orderly functioning of an
open economy, thus helping developing countries in
particular to share the benefits of the global
marketplace.

2. One of the main items on the agenda for the
forty-third session was the finalization and adoption of
a revised version of the UNCITRAL Arbitration Rules
to take account of developments in arbitration practice
since the adoption of the Rules in 1976. The revisions
were aimed at enhancing the efficiency of arbitration,
and the Rules would certainly continue to contribute to
the development of harmonious international economic
relations.

3. The Commission would also be considering a
draft supplement to the UNCITRAL Legislative Guide
on Secured Transactions dealing with security rights in
intellectual property. In line with the overall objective
of the Guide, the draft supplement was intended to
make credit more easily available to intellectual
property owners and other intellectual property rights
holders, thus enhancing the value of intellectual
property rights without interfering with fundamental
policies of law relating to intellectual property.

4.  Since 2006, and particularly in the wake of the
global financial crisis, there had been increasing
interest in the development of mechanisms to better
handle the insolvency of large multinational enterprise
groups. The Commission would have before it a draft
text — intended to become part three of the
UNCITRAL Legislative Guide on Insolvency Law —
which, once finalized and adopted, would provide
timely guidance in that regard.

5. The Commission was engaged in the revision of
its 1994 Model Law on Procurement of Goods,
Construction and Services and the consideration of its
possible future work in the areas of electronic
commerce, security interests and insolvency law. It
would also have before it a paper on microfinance in
the context of international economic development and
possible further action in that field. In addition, it
would be considering the challenges associated with
facilitating online dispute resolution in cross-border
electronic commerce transactions, a subject which
continued to gain significance with the rapid expansion
of international electronic commerce.

6. In addition to assisting the Commission with the
fulfilment of its legislative mandate, the International
Trade Law Division was working to promote
UNCITRAL legal texts and ways of ensuring their
uniform interpretation and application, in particular
through technical assistance and cooperation activities,
the system of collection and dissemination of case law
on UNCITRAL texts (CLOUT) and digests of case law.
Case law collected through the CLOUT network
facilitated cross-fertilization among jurisdictions,
increasing certainty and predictability in commercial
law, while the forthcoming digests would identify
trends in the interpretation of a given convention or
model law. Both sources would benefit judges,
arbitrators and others in their everyday work. The
Division also assisted the Commission with the
coordination of activities with relevant international
organizations, the review of its working methods, and
monitoring of the implementation of the 1958
Convention on the Recognition and Enforcement of
Foreign Arbitral Awards (New York Convention).

7.  The Commission contributed to the broader work
of the United Nations aimed at strengthening the rule
of law, since effective commercial law helped to
address the root causes of many international
problems, such as migration and inequitable access to
shared resources. The Commission had discussed its
role in promoting the rule of law at its forty-first and
forty-second sessions and had included comments on
the issue in its subsequent reports to the General
Assembly. At the current session, the Commission
would be holding a panel discussion on laws and
practices of Member States in implementing
international law, which had been chosen as a sub-topic
for the debate on the rule of law at the sixty-fifth

10-41478



A/CN.9/SR.901

session of the General Assembly and would no doubt
be of benefit to the Assembly’s deliberations.

8.  The Commission might also wish to address the
rule of law and transitional justice in conflict and post-
conflict situations, a topic that was equally of interest
to the Assembly. The fields of arbitration and
conciliation and public procurement, and possible
future work in the area of microfinance, seemed
particularly relevant in that regard.

Election of officers

9. The Temporary Chairperson said that the
delegation of Costa Rica, on behalf of the Group of
Latin American and Caribbean States, had nominated
Mr. Ricardo Sandoval (Chile) for the office of
Chairperson of the forty-third session of the
Commission.

10. Mr. Sandoval (Chile) was elected Chairperson by
acclamation.

11. The Temporary Chairperson said that the
Chairperson would not be present until the third week
of the session. Noting that the Commission was
meeting as a Committee of the Whole for the
consideration of agenda item 4, he invited members to
elect a Chairperson of the Committee.

12. Ms. Peer (Austria) nominated Mr. Michael
Schneider (Switzerland) for the office of Chairperson
of the Committee of the Whole.

13. Mr.  Schneider (Switzerland) was elected
Chairperson of the Committee of the Whole by
acclamation.

Adoption of the agenda (A/CN.9/683)

14. The agenda was adopted.

15.  Mr. Schneider (Switzerland) took the Chair.
Finalization and adoption of a revised version of the

UNCITRAL Arbitration Rules (A/CN.9/703 and
Add.1, A/CN.9/704 and Add.1-10)

Draft revised UNCITRAL Arbitration Rules
Section I. Introductory rules
Draft article 1. Scope of application

16. The Chairperson drew attention to documents
A/CN.9/703 and Add.l1, which contained the draft

10-41478

revised UNCITRAL Arbitration Rules prepared by the
Working Group, and A/CN.9/704 and Add.1-10, which
contained a compilation of comments by Governments
and international organizations. He proposed that the
Commission should consider the draft revised Rules
article by article, leaving aside until a later stage
article 2, paragraph 2, article 6, paragraph 3, article 34,
paragraph 2, and article 41, paragraphs 3 and 4, since
work had continued on those provisions after the end
of the Working Group’s last session and they would
therefore require more thorough discussion.

17. He invited the Committee to begin its
consideration of draft article 1. Once the full text of the
Rules had been adopted, the items in square brackets in
article 1 would be completed and the recommended
model statements of independence would be discussed.

18. Article 1 was adopted.

Draft article 3. Notice of arbitration

19. The Chairperson invited the Committee to
consider draft article 3. He noted that the Government
of El Salvador had proposed that the word “relief” in
paragraph 3 (f) should be replaced by the word
“measure”. A proposal had also been made to add
“whether or not there is a response to the notice” to the
conclusions in paragraph 5. Since there was no support
in the Committee for either proposal, he took it that the
Committee wished to adopt article 3 as it stood.

20. Draft article 3 was adopted.

Draft article 4. Response to the notice of arbitration

21. The Chairperson invited the Committee to begin
its consideration of article 4, which constituted a major
change to the Rules.

22. Mr. Vaagt (Office of Legal Affairs) said that it
would be difficult for the United Nations to meet the
strict 30-day deadline set out in paragraph 1 (b), owing
to the fact that arbitrations were usually handled by
outside counsel whose hiring took time under the
United Nations rules on procurement. The matter could
possibly be dealt with in the United Nations arbitration
rules.

23. Mr. Torterola (Argentina) said that the 30-day
deadline for the submission of documents under
paragraph 1 (b) might also be onerous for States or
other respondents, in the event of complex arbitration.



A/CN.9/SR.901

It might therefore be advisable to provide for a longer
time limit.

24. The Chairperson pointed out that the
observation had been made to the Working Group that
the deadline provided for in the article under
consideration and in other parts of the Rules were too
lengthy and gave rise to complaints in arbitration.
Before changing the time limit, the Committee must
consider whether that might affect the acceptability of
the Rules. The problem might be dealt with in the
arbitration clause. In addition, an observation could be
recorded that States might have difficulty in organizing
their defence, obtaining counsel and preparing a
response. He pointed out, however, that there was a
difference between establishing the arbitration tribunal
and preparing the defence. Under the current rules, the
respondent might have a longer time to develop a
defence; the time limit pertained solely to designating
an arbitrator.

25. Mr. Abascal Zamora (Mexico) said that his
Government opposed the inclusion of the article on the
grounds that it would give rise to difficulties in
arbitration and was not within the Committee’s
mandate. He therefore proposed that it should be
deleted.

26. Mr. Seweha (Egypt) wondered whether a delay
would have any consequences and, if so, whether it
might be preferable to refer to such consequences in
article 4.

27. The Chairperson replied that one consequence
was set out in paragraph 3, which stated that
“constitution of the arbitral tribunal shall not be
hindered by any controversy”, in which event the
appointment of arbitrators and establishment of the
tribunal would proceed under article 8. The claimant
could then decide whether to proceed to a substitute
appointment under the Rules.

28. Mr. Torterola (Argentina) said that an annotation
in the Rules stating that some States and other
respondents might find it difficult to comply with the
30-day time limit would suffice.

29. Mr. Jacquet (France) said that the Working
Group, mindful of the difficulties that might arise
under article 4, had made provision both for obligatory
items, set out in paragraph 1, and for optional items,
set out in paragraph 2, to be communicated within the
30-day deadline.

30. The Chairperson said that he took it the
Committee agreed to the proposal by El Salvador that
the words “to be” should be added before “constituted”
in paragraph 2 (a). He suggested that the Committee
should further consider the questions of the 30-day
time limit and the identification of those items whose
communication within that limit might be problematic.

31. It was so decided.

Draft article 5. Representation and assistance

32. Mr. Nikolaichik (Belarus) drew attention to his
Government’s proposal, contained in document
A/CN.9/704/Add.2, that a phrase should be added to
the second sentence of article 5 relating to the
certification of credentials.

33. The Chairperson said that he saw no support for
the proposal in the Committee.

34. Draft article 5 was adopted.

Draft article 6. Designating and appointing authorities

35. Ms. Hu Shengtao (China) said that her
Government, in its comments contained in document
A/CN.9/704/Add.1, had suggested that the reference to
the Permanent Court of Arbitration (PCA) in
paragraph 1 should be deleted, as that article had not
been thoroughly discussed by the Working Group.

36. Ms. Peer (Austria) said that her Government
supported China’s suggestion that the PCA should be
solely a designating authority and not an appointing
authority.

37. The Chairperson said that the reference to the
PCA had been added as a clarification to indicate that it
was not necessarily limited to the position of
designating authority but could also act as an
appointing authority, since at present it did act in the
latter capacity. Austria was now proposing that the
PCA should act as a designating authority but not as an
appointing authority. He asked whether the Committee
concurred.

38. Mr. Petrochilos (Greece) said that the PCA, in a
previous submission to the Working Group, had
pointed out that there was a practice of having it act as
both designating authority and appointing authority.
The purpose of the reference to the PCA in paragraph 1
was to codify existing practice. Any change to the

10-41478



A/CN.9/SR.901

provision might affect the validity of a number of long-
standing agreements.

39. The Chairperson said that he took it that, in the
absence of any support for the proposal by China and
Austria, the Committee wished to adopt draft article 6
in its current form.

40. Mr. Rovine (Observer for the Association of the
Bar of the City of New York) said that draft article 6,
paragraph 4, should include a specific reference to
refusal by an appointing official to act in the context of
a challenge.

41. The Chairperson said he thought that refusal to
act in the context of a challenge was covered by the
first phrase of the first sentence of the paragraph,
which referred to the appointing authority’s refusal to
act.

42. Mr. Rovine (Observer for the Association of the
Bar of the City of New York) said that that phrase
could be said to apply to failure to make a decision
with respect to fees and expenses as well. For the sake
of completeness, therefore, specific reference should
be made to failure to act in respect of challenges.

43. The Chairperson said that a specific reference to
challenges was not necessary and suggested that
paragraph 4 could be considered in the context of draft
article 41.

44. Mr. Vaagt (Office of Legal Affairs) said that the
strict stipulation in draft article 6, paragraph 2, that the
parties had to agree on the choice of an appointing
authority within 30 days was difficult to implement.
That difficulty should be reflected in the final report
and maybe in the resolution on the application of the
strict time limits imposed by the new UNCITRAL
Arbitration Rules.

45. The Chairperson said that he found nothing
wrong with that difficulty being mentioned in the final
report, but its inclusion in the resolution could only be
considered during the discussion on the resolution
itself.

46. Mr. Jacquet (France) said that since the decision
had been made to include the time limit in the text,
there was no point in indicating that the time limit was
impractical or difficult to implement. It was important
not to introduce elements into the report that would
contradict the Rules themselves. Much like paragraph 3
of draft article 6, paragraph 4 of that article should also

10-41478

be considered at a later stage in connection with draft
article 41.

47. The Chairperson said that he had already
indicated that draft article 6, paragraph 4, would be
deferred and revisited in the context of draft article 41.

48. Mr. Castello (United States of America) said that
failure to act in the context of a challenge was not
covered by draft article 6, paragraph 4, because it
referred to an activity that had no time limit, whereas
paragraph 4 referred to failure to act under the 30-day
deadline or failure to act within any other period
provided by the Rules.

49. The Chairperson said that the issue could be
resolved either by redrafting the text to avoid
enumeration of different situations where the
appointing authority might be called upon to intervene,
or by adding the reference to failure to act in the
context of a challenge. He suggested that paragraphs 3
and 4 of draft article 6 should be considered at a later
stage.

50. Draft article 6, save for paragraphs 3 and 4, was
adopted.

Draft article 7. Number of arbitrators

51. Mr. Abascal Zamora (Mexico) said that his
delegation had already proposed an alternative text to
draft article 7 and wished to consult with other
delegations to discuss its proposal.

52. The Chairperson said that the text was available
in Spanish only and could not be discussed in detail
until it was available in all the other languages. In the
meantime, only the substance of the proposal could be
discussed. He sought clarification as to whether the
proposal affected the fall-back position of one or three
arbitrators for arbitral tribunals.

53. Mr. Abascal Zamora (Mexico) observed that
when the 1976 Rules were drawn up the number and
complexity of international arbitration cases justified
the appointment of three arbitrators. However,
circumstances had changed considerably, with the
increasing speed and number of transactions in the
current international business environment. There were
now many cases where one arbitrator was preferable to
three. For example, in certain instances, the amount of
money at stake was so insignificant that it made no
sense to appoint three arbitrators. The gist of the
Mexican proposal was that a default rule of a sole



A/CN.9/SR.901

arbitrator should be established, with the possibility of
three arbitrators being appointed for specific cases.
Following that appointment, the sole arbitrator would
hear the parties, examine the documents, and then
decide whether it was justified to have a three-person
panel or to proceed alone.

54. The Chairperson noted that the mechanism to be
used in the absence of a specific choice by the parties
had been discussed at length and that the solution of
three arbitrators which had been adopted by the
Working Group had been criticized for the same
reasons as those raised by the Mexican delegation. It
was therefore necessary for the Committee of the
Whole to discuss the matter, but that discussion should
be deferred until the text was translated and submitted
to the Committee.

55. Mr. Abascal Zamora (Mexico) said that
experience had shown that where the parties did not
agree on the number of arbitrators, more and more
appointing authorities were adopting the sole arbitrator
option.

56. The Chairperson said that the idea of having the
final decision made by a sole arbitrator who had full
knowledge of the case was somewhat attractive,
especially if the appointing authority was not well
equipped to conduct a thorough analysis before
deciding on the number of arbitrators. He suggested
that draft article 7 should be considered at a later stage,
pending a review of the Mexican proposal.

57. It was so decided.

Draft article 8. Appointment of arbitrators

58. Draft article 8 was adopted.

Draft article 9

59. Mr. Jaeger (Observer for the Comité Francais de
I’ Arbitrage), referring members to the Comité’s written
comments (A/CN.9/704/Add.5), said that draft article 9
did not provide for arbitrators to consult with the
parties before appointing the president of the arbitral
tribunal. The draft article could be amended to read as
follows: “If three arbitrators are to be appointed, each
party shall appoint one arbitrator. The two arbitrators
thus appointed shall, after consultation with the parties
should they so decide, choose the third arbitrator who
will act as presiding arbitrator of the arbitral tribunal.”

60. The Chairperson said that he had understood the
assumption behind the proposal to be that the current
text could preclude consultation between the arbitrators
and the parties.

61. Mr. Petrochilos (Greece) said that the proposal
was not meant to indicate that consultation was
mandatory, but that it should be allowed.

62. The Chairperson asked whether, with the
proposed amendment, it was the parties or the
arbitrators who decided.

63. Mr. Jaeger (Observer for the Comité Francais de
I’Arbitrage) said that Greece’s interpretation was
correct. The idea was not to impose consultation but to
remove any uncertainty as to the possibility of the
appointed arbitrators consulting with the parties before
choosing the president of the arbitral tribunal.

64. The Chairperson said he took it that the
Committee wished to defer consideration of the new
phrase, “after consultation with the parties should they
so decide”, as well as the proposal by Slovenia
(A/CN.9/704) that the reference in the last sentence of
draft article 9, paragraph 3, should be to article 8 as a
whole and not only to article 8, paragraph 2.

65. It was so decided.

The meeting rose at 1.05 p.m.

10-41478




<<
  /ASCII85EncodePages false
  /AllowTransparency false
  /AutoPositionEPSFiles true
  /AutoRotatePages /None
  /Binding /Left
  /CalGrayProfile (Dot Gain 20%)
  /CalRGBProfile (sRGB IEC61966-2.1)
  /CalCMYKProfile (U.S. Web Coated \050SWOP\051 v2)
  /sRGBProfile (sRGB IEC61966-2.1)
  /CannotEmbedFontPolicy /Error
  /CompatibilityLevel 1.4
  /CompressObjects /Tags
  /CompressPages true
  /ConvertImagesToIndexed true
  /PassThroughJPEGImages true
  /CreateJDFFile false
  /CreateJobTicket false
  /DefaultRenderingIntent /Default
  /DetectBlends true
  /DetectCurves 0.0000
  /ColorConversionStrategy /CMYK
  /DoThumbnails false
  /EmbedAllFonts true
  /EmbedOpenType false
  /ParseICCProfilesInComments true
  /EmbedJobOptions true
  /DSCReportingLevel 0
  /EmitDSCWarnings false
  /EndPage -1
  /ImageMemory 1048576
  /LockDistillerParams false
  /MaxSubsetPct 100
  /Optimize true
  /OPM 1
  /ParseDSCComments true
  /ParseDSCCommentsForDocInfo true
  /PreserveCopyPage true
  /PreserveDICMYKValues true
  /PreserveEPSInfo true
  /PreserveFlatness true
  /PreserveHalftoneInfo false
  /PreserveOPIComments true
  /PreserveOverprintSettings true
  /StartPage 1
  /SubsetFonts true
  /TransferFunctionInfo /Apply
  /UCRandBGInfo /Preserve
  /UsePrologue false
  /ColorSettingsFile ()
  /AlwaysEmbed [ true
  ]
  /NeverEmbed [ true
  ]
  /AntiAliasColorImages false
  /CropColorImages true
  /ColorImageMinResolution 300
  /ColorImageMinResolutionPolicy /OK
  /DownsampleColorImages true
  /ColorImageDownsampleType /Bicubic
  /ColorImageResolution 300
  /ColorImageDepth -1
  /ColorImageMinDownsampleDepth 1
  /ColorImageDownsampleThreshold 1.50000
  /EncodeColorImages true
  /ColorImageFilter /DCTEncode
  /AutoFilterColorImages true
  /ColorImageAutoFilterStrategy /JPEG
  /ColorACSImageDict <<
    /QFactor 0.15
    /HSamples [1 1 1 1] /VSamples [1 1 1 1]
  >>
  /ColorImageDict <<
    /QFactor 0.15
    /HSamples [1 1 1 1] /VSamples [1 1 1 1]
  >>
  /JPEG2000ColorACSImageDict <<
    /TileWidth 256
    /TileHeight 256
    /Quality 30
  >>
  /JPEG2000ColorImageDict <<
    /TileWidth 256
    /TileHeight 256
    /Quality 30
  >>
  /AntiAliasGrayImages false
  /CropGrayImages true
  /GrayImageMinResolution 300
  /GrayImageMinResolutionPolicy /OK
  /DownsampleGrayImages true
  /GrayImageDownsampleType /Bicubic
  /GrayImageResolution 300
  /GrayImageDepth -1
  /GrayImageMinDownsampleDepth 2
  /GrayImageDownsampleThreshold 1.50000
  /EncodeGrayImages true
  /GrayImageFilter /DCTEncode
  /AutoFilterGrayImages true
  /GrayImageAutoFilterStrategy /JPEG
  /GrayACSImageDict <<
    /QFactor 0.15
    /HSamples [1 1 1 1] /VSamples [1 1 1 1]
  >>
  /GrayImageDict <<
    /QFactor 0.15
    /HSamples [1 1 1 1] /VSamples [1 1 1 1]
  >>
  /JPEG2000GrayACSImageDict <<
    /TileWidth 256
    /TileHeight 256
    /Quality 30
  >>
  /JPEG2000GrayImageDict <<
    /TileWidth 256
    /TileHeight 256
    /Quality 30
  >>
  /AntiAliasMonoImages false
  /CropMonoImages true
  /MonoImageMinResolution 1200
  /MonoImageMinResolutionPolicy /OK
  /DownsampleMonoImages true
  /MonoImageDownsampleType /Bicubic
  /MonoImageResolution 1200
  /MonoImageDepth -1
  /MonoImageDownsampleThreshold 1.50000
  /EncodeMonoImages true
  /MonoImageFilter /CCITTFaxEncode
  /MonoImageDict <<
    /K -1
  >>
  /AllowPSXObjects false
  /CheckCompliance [
    /None
  ]
  /PDFX1aCheck false
  /PDFX3Check false
  /PDFXCompliantPDFOnly false
  /PDFXNoTrimBoxError true
  /PDFXTrimBoxToMediaBoxOffset [
    0.00000
    0.00000
    0.00000
    0.00000
  ]
  /PDFXSetBleedBoxToMediaBox true
  /PDFXBleedBoxToTrimBoxOffset [
    0.00000
    0.00000
    0.00000
    0.00000
  ]
  /PDFXOutputIntentProfile ()
  /PDFXOutputConditionIdentifier ()
  /PDFXOutputCondition ()
  /PDFXRegistryName ()
  /PDFXTrapped /False

  /Description <<
    /CHS <FEFF4f7f75288fd94e9b8bbe5b9a521b5efa7684002000410064006f006200650020005000440046002065876863900275284e8e9ad88d2891cf76845370524d53705237300260a853ef4ee54f7f75280020004100630072006f0062006100740020548c002000410064006f00620065002000520065006100640065007200200035002e003000204ee553ca66f49ad87248672c676562535f00521b5efa768400200050004400460020658768633002>
    /CHT <FEFF4f7f752890194e9b8a2d7f6e5efa7acb7684002000410064006f006200650020005000440046002065874ef69069752865bc9ad854c18cea76845370524d5370523786557406300260a853ef4ee54f7f75280020004100630072006f0062006100740020548c002000410064006f00620065002000520065006100640065007200200035002e003000204ee553ca66f49ad87248672c4f86958b555f5df25efa7acb76840020005000440046002065874ef63002>
    /DAN <>
    /DEU <>
    /ESP <>
    /FRA <>
    /ITA <>
    /JPN <FEFF9ad854c18cea306a30d730ea30d730ec30b951fa529b7528002000410064006f0062006500200050004400460020658766f8306e4f5c6210306b4f7f75283057307e305930023053306e8a2d5b9a30674f5c62103055308c305f0020005000440046002030d530a130a430eb306f3001004100630072006f0062006100740020304a30883073002000410064006f00620065002000520065006100640065007200200035002e003000204ee5964d3067958b304f30533068304c3067304d307e305930023053306e8a2d5b9a306b306f30d530a930f330c8306e57cb30818fbc307f304c5fc59808306730593002>
    /KOR <FEFFc7740020c124c815c7440020c0acc6a9d558c5ec0020ace0d488c9c80020c2dcd5d80020c778c1c4c5d00020ac00c7a50020c801d569d55c002000410064006f0062006500200050004400460020bb38c11cb97c0020c791c131d569b2c8b2e4002e0020c774b807ac8c0020c791c131b41c00200050004400460020bb38c11cb2940020004100630072006f0062006100740020bc0f002000410064006f00620065002000520065006100640065007200200035002e00300020c774c0c1c5d0c11c0020c5f40020c2180020c788c2b5b2c8b2e4002e>
    /NLD (Gebruik deze instellingen om Adobe PDF-documenten te maken die zijn geoptimaliseerd voor prepress-afdrukken van hoge kwaliteit. De gemaakte PDF-documenten kunnen worden geopend met Acrobat en Adobe Reader 5.0 en hoger.)
    /NOR <>
    /PTB <>
    /SUO <>
    /SVE <>
    /ENU (Use these settings to create Adobe PDF documents best suited for high-quality prepress printing.  Created PDF documents can be opened with Acrobat and Adobe Reader 5.0 and later.)
  >>
  /Namespace [
    (Adobe)
    (Common)
    (1.0)
  ]
  /OtherNamespaces [
    <<
      /AsReaderSpreads false
      /CropImagesToFrames true
      /ErrorControl /WarnAndContinue
      /FlattenerIgnoreSpreadOverrides false
      /IncludeGuidesGrids false
      /IncludeNonPrinting false
      /IncludeSlug false
      /Namespace [
        (Adobe)
        (InDesign)
        (4.0)
      ]
      /OmitPlacedBitmaps false
      /OmitPlacedEPS false
      /OmitPlacedPDF false
      /SimulateOverprint /Legacy
    >>
    <<
      /AddBleedMarks false
      /AddColorBars false
      /AddCropMarks false
      /AddPageInfo false
      /AddRegMarks false
      /ConvertColors /ConvertToCMYK
      /DestinationProfileName ()
      /DestinationProfileSelector /DocumentCMYK
      /Downsample16BitImages true
      /FlattenerPreset <<
        /PresetSelector /MediumResolution
      >>
      /FormElements false
      /GenerateStructure false
      /IncludeBookmarks false
      /IncludeHyperlinks false
      /IncludeInteractive false
      /IncludeLayers false
      /IncludeProfiles false
      /MultimediaHandling /UseObjectSettings
      /Namespace [
        (Adobe)
        (CreativeSuite)
        (2.0)
      ]
      /PDFXOutputIntentProfileSelector /DocumentCMYK
      /PreserveEditing true
      /UntaggedCMYKHandling /LeaveUntagged
      /UntaggedRGBHandling /UseDocumentProfile
      /UseDocumentBleed false
    >>
  ]
>> setdistillerparams
<<
  /HWResolution [2400 2400]
  /PageSize [612.000 792.000]
>> setpagedevice


